# **RECEIVED** 06-15-2015

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT\_III\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

No. 2015AP457-CR

DANIEL L. SCHMIDT,

Defendant-Appellant.\_\_\_\_\_

## ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE OCONTO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT HONORABLE MICHAEL T. JUDGE, PRESIDING

## APPELLANT'S BRIEF

TIM PROVIS Appellate Counsel Bar No. 1020123

123 East Beutel Road Port Washington, WI 53074 (414) 339-4458

Attorney for Appellant SCHMIDT

##

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether exclusion of a child psychologist's expert testimony on influences which could affect a child's memory and testimony violated Mr. Schmidt's basic Due Process right to present a defense.

Over objection, the court below granted the State's motion *in limine* prohibiting admission of the expert testimony and later denied a postconviction motion for new trial.

2. Whether it was prejudicial error to find Mr. Schmidt waived the husband-wife privilege as to a statement about killing Kimberly Rose.

Over objection, the court below granted the State's pretrial motion to admit the statement, finding waiver of the husband-wife privilege.

3. Whether the State presented evidence sufficient to satisfy the rule of *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979) as to victim Leo Marsh.

The court below denied Mr. Schmidt's motion to dismiss presented after the State rested.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is not requested.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Counsel requests publication because the opinion here is likely to apply established rules of law to a factual situation significantly different from those in previous opinions and therefore will clarify those rules. The second issue may be one of first impression.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Nature of the Case

This is a review of Mr. Schmidt's conviction by a jury of 2 counts of 1<sup>st</sup> degree murder and of the denial of his postconviction motion.

#### 2. Proceedings Below

On September 5, 2012, complaint number 12 CF 156 was filed in Oconto County Circuit Court charging Mr. Schmidt with 2 counts of violating §940.01(1)(a), *Wis. Stats.* (1<sup>st</sup> Degree Intentional Homicide) committed on May 19, 2009. (1). Mr. Schmidt appeared with counsel that day and the initial appearance was continued. (26:4). Bail was set at \$2 million cash. (26:7).

On September 13, 2012, the State Public Defender appointed staff counsel to represent Mr. Schmidt. (4).

On September 25, 2012, trial counsel filed a motion to dismiss the complaint as defective. (10).

On September 26, 2012, the court denied the motion and set a date for preliminary hearing. (27)

On October 3, 2012, preliminary hearing was held and Mr. Schmidt was ordered bound over for trial. (24:127). An information making the same charges as in the complaint was filed as well as the State's speedy trial demand. (22)(23).

On November 5, 2012, Mr. Schmidt was arraigned and by counsel entered not guilty pleas to the information. (28).

On February 25, 2013, the State filed motions *in limine* and other pretrial motions. (29)(30)(31)(32).

On February 28, 2013, the State filed additional pretrial motions (33)(34), including a motion to admit Mr. Schmidt's statements to his wife. (35).

On March 1, 2013, defense filed motions *in limine* (37) and to suppress statements. (38). The State filed additional pretrial motions. (39)(40)(41)(43)(44)(45).

On March 27, 2013, the court postponed the trial by stipulation. (57:7).

On April 15, 2013, defense filed a notice of alibi (58) and a motion to suppress statements. (59). The State filed an analysis of the suppression issues. (61).

On April 16, 2013, the court heard the suppression of statements motion (82) and denied it by memorandum decision on April 18, 2013. (64).

On May 24, 2013, the court filed its memorandum decision granting the State's motion to introduce other acts evidence. (70).

On June 5, 2013, the court filed its memorandum decision granting the State's motion to admit certain of victim Rose's statements. (83).

On June 17, 2013, the court adjourned the trial due to the prosecutor's appointment to the bench. (85).

On August 1, 2013, the new prosecutor filed a proposed witness list. (93).

On August 19, 2013, the court heard the defense *Denny* motion (98) and denied it by memorandum decision on September 10, 2013. (96).

On September 12, 2013, the State filed motions *in limine*, including for exclusion of defense expert testimony on influences on a child's testimony (100:2) with a supporting brief. (101).

On September 25, 2013, defense filed its briefs opposing the motion to exclude expert testimony. (105)(106).

On September 26, 2013, defense filed a letter brief opposing the motion to find Mr. Schmidt waived the marital privilege as to a statement about killing Ms. Rose. (107).

On October 2, 2013 the court heard the State's motion to exclude expert testimony (160) and also filed its memorandum decision granting the State's motion to find waiver of the marital privilege as to a statement about killing Ms. Rose. (111).

On October 4, 2013, the court filed its decision granting the State's motion to exclude the defense's expert testimony. (113).

Trial began on October 11, 2013 with jury selection. (153). A jury was selected and sworn. (153:108-109).

On October 14, 2013, the State began presenting its evidence (157:67).

On October 15, 2013, the State continued presenting its case. (155).

On October 16, 2013, the State rested. (158:116). The defense motion to dismiss was denied. (158:117-118). The defense began presenting its evidence. (158:119). Mr. Schmidt waived his right to testify. (158:230-232).

On October 17, 2013, the defense rested. (154:44). The jury returned its verdicts, finding Mr. Schmidt guilty as charged in the information. (137)(154:163-165).

On January 21, 2014, the court sentenced Mr. Schmidt to two consecutive life terms without possibility of extended supervision. (145)(152:47-50).

Notice of Intent was filed January 28, 2014 (148) and Notice of Appeal was first filed July 18, 2014. (163).

Present counsel dismissed the first appeal so a postconviction motion could be heard (169)(170) and the motion was denied on February 16, 2015. (179). Notice of Appeal was again filed on March 4, 2015. (180).

#### 3. Facts of the Offenses

On the morning of May 19, 2009, Kimberly Rose and her brother, Leonard Marsh were found dead at their residence. (157:72-78)(157:83-85). They had been killed with a shotgun. (158:22, 33).

Mr. Schmidt, married to Stephanie (157:158), had been having an affair with Ms. Rose (157:160-165) and owned a rusty shotgun. (157:179-183). After his wife discovered this affair, Mr. Schmidt said, according to her, "I'd like to shoot [Ms. Rose], then myself." (157:199). A witness testified Mr. Schmidt's mother said he was sick of Leo Marsh meddling in the affair with Leo's sister. (155:158-159).

The murder shotgun could not be identified. (155-129-133). No physical evidence connected Mr. Schmidt to the scene of the crime. (154:10-14).

// // //

//

#### <u>Argument</u>

I. EXCLUSION OF THE CHILD PSYCHOLOGIST'S EXPERT TESTIMONY VIOLATED MR. SCHMIDT'S BASIC DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE.

#### A. Additional Facts

Because no hard evidence placed Mr. Schmidt at the scene of the crime on the fatal morning, a key State's witness was Ms. Rose's son, Donavan Rose-Turner, who was 11 years old at the time of the crime and 16 years old when he testified at trial. (155:12). He testified at trial to seeing a couple at his house arguing with his mother the night before the killings. (155:21-22). Though he could not recognize their voices or see their faces, he believed one of the couple was Stephanie Schmidt. (155:21 [lines 4-9])(155:25-26). He also swore he saw a truck looking like Mr. Schmidt's parked at his house that night. (155:22). Donavan's trial testimony as to these key details was different from his statements to police in 2009 and different than his preliminary hearing testimony a year before. (155:24-27, 31-33, 37-40).

The State filed a motion *in limine*, requesting defense be prohibited from presenting expert testimony of a child psychologist, Dr. Thompson, as to the influences which could affect a child's memory and testimony. (100:2,  $\P$ 8). Trial counsel responded with a brief arguing the psychologist's testimony would aid the jury in understanding the evidence. (105). The court heard the State's motion (160 [transcript]) and filed its decision granting it. (113).

Mr. Schmidt filed a postconviction motion objecting to the exclusion on constitutional grounds (172) and the court below denied it. (179).

B. Standard of Review

Issues involving the right to present a defense are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. St. George*, 2002 WI 50, ¶16, 252 Wis.2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777.

### C. Discussion

It is well settled an accused has a basic Due Process right to present a defense. *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 324-326, 126 S.Ct. 1727 (2006)(summarizing rules). See also *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S.Ct. 1920 (1967)(declaring right to be "fundamental").

With respect to expert testimony, the state supreme court has outlined the constitutional rules for its admission. See *St. George, supra*, ¶48- ¶73, This two part test first requires the accused to "satisfy each of the following four factors through an offer of proof." *Id.* at ¶54.

" 1) The testimony of the expert witness [meets] the standards of 907.02..."

"2) The expert witness's testimony [is] clearly relevant"

" 3) The expert witness's testimony is necessary to the defendant's case." and

" 4) The probative value of the testimony of the defendant's expert outweigh[s] its prejudicial effect."

#### *Id.* at ¶54.

In the second part of the test, the court "determine[s] whether the defendant's right to present the proffered evidence is nonetheless outweighed by the State's compelling interest to exclude the evidence." *Id.* at ¶55.

Applying the *St. George* test here, counsel analyzes the first part as follows:

#### 1) the *Daubert* determination

In January 2011, the legislature amended § 907.02, Wis. Stats., to make Wisconsin law on admissibility of expert testimony consistent with "the Daubert reliability standard embodied in Federal Rule of Evidence 702." State v. Kandutsch, 2011 WI 78, ¶26, n.7, 336 Wis.2d 478, 799 N.W.2d 865. Since this amendment, only one Wisconsin case attempts "to explain what the *Daubert* rule is and what it is not." *State v. Giese*, 2014 WI App 92, ¶1, 356 Wis.2d 796, 854 N.W.2d 687.

The amended Rule allows expert testimony for 2 reasons, *i.e.*, if it "will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence **or** to determine a fact in issue . . ." §907.02, *Wis. Stats.*, emphasis added. Here, trial counsel argued the child psychologist's testimony would aid the jury in understanding Donovan Rose-Turner's testimony. (105:3-4.) The court below never made a finding on that issue before trial (113) nor did it do so after trial (179) when counsel raised it again. (172:3)

The Giese, supra, court cited with approval to Daniel D. Blinka, The Daubert Standard in Wisconsin: A Primer, 84 Wis. Lawyer 3 (Mar. 2011) at 14. 2014 WI App 92, ¶19. In that article, Prof. Blinka endorses the use of advisory committee notes to the 2000 amendment to Federal Rule of Evidence 702 for guidance in understanding Daubert. 84 Wis. Lawyer 3 (Mar. 2011) at 16. As Prof. Blinka there shows, the federal advisory committee notes make clear the Daubert standard is meant to continue the "venerable practice" of expert testimony on general principles. Id. at 18. "It might also be important in some cases for an expert to educate the fact finder about general principles without ever attempting to apply those principles to the specific facts of the case." Id. at 18, quoting Fed. R. Evid. 702 advisory committee note (2000 amendment), emphasis added.

Counsel submits Dr. Thompson's testimony would have helped the jury understand the reasons for the changes in the young Rose-Turner's testimony over time and so passed the *Daubert* test now embodied in §907.02, *Wis. Stats.* See *State v. Kirshbaum*, 195 Wis.2d 11, 25, 535 N.W.2d 462, 467 (Ct.App.1995)(child interviewing techniques "is a subject with which a lay juror may be unfamiliar.").

#### 2) Relevance

As credibility of the juvenile witness was in issue, Dr. Thompson's testimony was "clearly relevant." *St. George* at ¶54. And see *St. George* at  $\P60$  (finding expert testimony on interviewing techniques relevant).

#### 3) Necessity

Since there was no physical evidence or testimony placing Mr. Schmidt at the scene at the time of the killings, the young Rose-Turner's testimony was an important part of the State's case because it identified a truck which looked like Mr. Schmidt's as present the night before the killings when there was allegedly a confrontation between his mother and other persons, whom he believed included Mr. Schmidt's wife. (155:12-23). It was, therefore, crucial to the defense to help the jury understand how his memory and testimony had changed over time, especially since he couldn't identify anyone in his earliest testimony. *Id.* at 25-27. Compare *U.S. v. Valenzuela-Bernal*, 458 U.S. 858, 867-868, 102 S.Ct. 3440 (1982) (where evidence could have "affected the outcome of the trial," it was "critical" to defense.).

#### 4) Probative vs. Prejudicial

Since the State would have had full opportunity for cross-examination of Dr. Thompson at trial, it could have done there what it did at the motion hearing, *i.e.*, make its best effort to impeach the expert's methods and conclusions. (160: 24-54). And see *Daubert v. Merrill Dow Pharm, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 596 (1993)( "Vigorous cross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, . . . are [] traditional means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence.") followed in *Giese, supra* at ¶28. Considering this, there could be little or no prejudice to the State from Dr. Thompson's testimony whereas it had ample probative value in helping the jury to assess the young witness' testimony.

Therefore, counsel respectfully submits trial counsel's offer of proof in the form of the expert's testimony met the first part of the *St. George* test.

Turning to the second part of the test, the court "must apply a strict scrutiny analysis . . ." *State v. Dodson*, 219 Wis.2d 65, 83, ¶35, 580 N.W.2d 181, 191 (1998) followed in *St. George*, ¶20, n.22. See *St. George*, ¶55, n.41. That is, it

determines "whether the defendant's right to present the proffered evidence is nonetheless outweighed by the State's compelling interest to exclude the evidence." *Id.* at ¶55.

In *St. George*, the State urged expert testimony on witness recantation and interviewing techniques would mislead the jury, 2002 WI 50, ¶68-70, as did the State here. (177:4) The supreme court rejected that claim because the State could cross-examine on those parts of the testimony it thought misleading. *Id*.

The great Justice Traynor once succinctly summarized a basic principle applicable here. "[T]he state has no interest in denying the accused access to all evidence that can throw light on the issues in the case, and in particular it has no interest in convicting on the testimony of witnesses who have not been as rigorously cross-examined and as thoroughly impeached as the evidence permits." *People v. Riser* (1956), 47 Cal.2d 566, 586, 305 P.2d 1, 13. Similarly here, counsel submits the State had no compelling interest in preventing Mr. Schmidt from presenting the child psychologist's testimony to the jury.

## II. IT WAS PREJUDICIAL ERROR TO FIND MR. SCHMIDT WAIVED HIS HUSBAND-WIFE PRIVILEGE AS TO A STATEMENT ABOUT KILLING MS. ROSE.

### A. Additional Facts

At trial, Mrs. Schmidt was allowed to testify to a statement in which, she swore, her husband said "I'd like to shoot [Ms. Rose], then myself." (157:199 [lines 21-22]).

Before trial the State moved to admit this statement, arguing Mr. Schmidt waived the husband-wife privilege by voluntarily disclosing a significant part of the statement. (35:2-10). Trial counsel objected with a letter brief. (107). The court below granted the State's motion in a written decision. (111). In that decision, the court found as fact that when confronted by police with his wife's statement, "Initially, Schmidt denied making that type of comment, but thereafter admitted he might have said he would like to kill only himself, but not Kimberly." (111:2).

#### B. Standard of Review

Issues of interpretation of privilege statutes are issues of law reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Denis L.R.*, 2005 WI 110, ¶35, 283 Wis.2d 358, 699 N.W.2d 154.

#### C. Discussion

#### The husband-wife privilege

is supported by the policy of encouraging marital confidences. The damage which is thought to result from the unconsented-to disclosure of such communications extends beyond an individual marriage. The domestic confidence is a very important basis of the marriage relationship. That relationship is considered so valuable to society that it should be fostered by preserving or guaranteeing the confidentiality of private communications in judicial proceedings.

#### Muetze v. State, 73 Wis.2d 117, 129, 243 N.W.2d 393 (1976).

The privilege has "ancient roots," *Trammel v. U.S.*, 445 U.S. 40, 43-44, 100 S.Ct. 906 (1980), and in Wisconsin it protects "any private communication by one [spouse] to the other made during their marriage . . ." §905.05(1), *Wis. Stats.* 

The waiver of privilege by voluntary disclosure, on the other hand, see §905.11, *Wis. Stats.*, is of much more recent vintage, originating with proposed Federal Rule of Evidence 511 in 1972. *State v. Denis L.R.*, 2004 WI App 51, ¶15, 270 Wis.2d 663, 678 N.W.2d 326. See 56 F.R.D. 258-259 (text of proposed Rule and advisory committee note).

The court below found Mr. Schmidt had waived his privilege by disclosing a "significant part" of it to police. (111:2). The "significant part" the court below referred to was Mr. Schmidt's confirmation to police he said he wanted to kill himself. *Id*.

There is little law in any jurisdiction, and nothing definitive, on what amounts to a "significant part" of a privileged communication such that the remainder of it is considered disclosed under §905.11, *Wis. Stats.*, or parallel statutes. See, *e.g.*, *Mitchell v. Superior Court* (1984), 37 Cal.3d 591, 602, 691 P.2d 642, 648 ("Relatively few reported

cases interpret [parallel statute]; none are definitive . . ."); *State v. Eison*, 2011 WI App 52, ¶33, 332 Wis.2d 331, 797 N.W.2d 890 (statute cited but no discussion of "significant part"). California follows a rule that "[w]hat constitutes a significant part of the communication is a matter of judicial interpretation; however, the scope of the privilege should be determined primarily by reference to the purpose of the privilege." *Transamerica Title Ins. Co. v. Superior Court* (1989), 188 Cal.App.3d 1047, 1052, 233 Cal.Rptr. 825, 828. (atty-client privilege).

As noted above, the purpose of the husband-wife privilege is "encouraging marital confidences" because the marriage "relationship is considered so valuable to society that it should be fostered by preserving or guaranteeing the confidentiality of private communications . . ." *Muetze, supra*, 73 Wis.2d at 129.

Counsel submits the only significant part of the statement was the part which was not disclosed, *i.e.*, the incriminating part. Allowing disclosure of such significant private communication is clearly against the public policy of guaranteeing marital confidences. That is to say, the important thing "is not the content of the communication, but the relationship which must be preserved and enhanced as a societal value." *Lohman v. Superior Court* (1978), 81 Cal.App.3d 90, 97, 141 Cal.Rptr.171, 175.

It was error to allow disclosure of the marital confidence here and it seems clear it was prejudicial since the case was almost entirely circumstantial.

## III. THE EVIDENCE MR. SCHMIDT KILLED LEO MARCH WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY INSUFFICIENT.

### A. Standard of Review

To determine if the evidence supporting a criminal conviction is constitutionally significant, a court asks whether "any rational jury could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2281 (1979). See also *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis.2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752

(1990)(standard of review same in either a direct or circumstantial evidence case).

#### B. Discussion

Leo Marsh is the forgotten man in this case. What scant evidence in the record about him there is portrays him as cantankerous. See (155:56 [Leo fighting with sister])(158:155 [same]), (155:34 [Leo had fight with boyfriend]), (158:157 [Leo curses at twin brother]). The only evidence connecting him with Mr. Schmidt was hearsay that Mr. Schmidt was sick and tired of Leo meddling in his affair with Leo's sister. (155:158).

The State presented Leo's killing almost as if it were a matter of *res ipsa loquitur*, *i.e.*, Mr. Schmidt killed Ms. Rose so he must have killed her brother who lived with her. (154:155 [closing argument]).

But some relevant facts are: the door to the residence was unlocked that morning (157:75 [lines 6-9, Ms. Rose tells friend she is leaving door unlocked]); the State's pathologist presented no evidence as to the time of death of either victim; the State's ballistics expert could not testify the same gun killed both victims (155:132-133) and the State could not even say both victims were killed with the same type of shot. *Cf.* (158: 18, 32 [pathologist testifies shot was pellets]) with (155:113 [ballistics expert testifies shot was slugs]).

Furthermore, the *modus operandi* of the shootings was different, *i.e.*, Ms. Rose was shot at close range from the front (155:12-15) while Leo was shot in the back from a good distance. (158:25 [lines 14-15], 32 [lines 4-5]).

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