RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **08-19-2015**

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2015AP457-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL L. SCHMIDT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR OCONTO COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL T. JUDGE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

the defense expert's testimony directly rebutting the testimony of the state's two experts and that bolstered the child/victim's credibility violated the right to present a defense).

Here, there was no state expert witness testimony to be rebutted by Dr. Thompson as there was in St. George. Here, Dr. Thompson's opinion testimony did not rebut the testimony of a child/victim as was the case in St. George. The exclusion of Dr. Thompson's testimony did not prevent the defense from challenging Donavan's credibility on crossexamination by pointing out the inconsistencies in his accounts over time, his alleged bias against Schmidt and his ability to observe on the night of May 18; or from challenging the credibility of those who interviewed Donavan by again pointing out the inconsistencies in his accounts from one interview to the next or their possible biases against Schmdit. These were all matters within the common knowledge of the average juror. Schmidt was not denied his right to present a defense because he was not denied his right to effectively challenge Donavan's credibility.

D. Any error was harmless.

If the trial court erred in excluding Dr. Thompson's opinion testimony, any error was harmless. Beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury would still have found Schmidt guilty based on the powerful and properly received circumstantial evidence, and all reasonable inferences to be drawn from it. *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 44, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

For many of the same reasons the state believes Dr. Thompson's testimony was properly excluded, its impact on the outcome would have been minimal. Its probative value would have been low. The state would have pointed out on cross-examination that his opinions could not be tied to any facts. Dr. Thompson did not observe any of the interviews and had no idea what transpired in any of them. He would have to concede that DCI Investigator Kust likely used proper interview techniques with Donavan. His opinion would have been challenged with the fact that Donavan was not a toddler who would more likely be misled by improper interview techniques. Dr. Thompson would have to concede that concerns about interviewer bias, negative stereotyping and memory attribution could also occur in interviews of adults. Finally, Dr. Thompson would have to admit that repeated interviews of a child are often a good thing. The state would point out that these problems were less likely to occur here because multiple suspects, not just Schmidt, were being investigated at the time. The state would also have established through Donavan's grandmother that his statements to her were spontaneous and she did not question him. And, as discussed above, defense counsel was fully able to draw out on cross-examination of Donavan the various inconsistencies in his accounts over time (155:24-40).

Beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury would still have found Schmidt guilty even if Dr. Thompson were allowed to testify in the face of the following devastating evidence: Schmidt's admission to his mother that he had an affair with Rose and had done "the worst of the worst": Schmidt's admission to his mother that he had gotten rid of the gun his uncle gave him as a teenager and burned some evidence in a burn pit on the day of the murders; Schmidt's admission to his uncle Keith in early May that he had an affair with Rose but wanted to save his marriage, was "angry" that Rose kept a diary about the affair and that his wife went to Rose's house to see it: Stephanie's testimony that two days before the murder, she confronted Schmidt at his place of work about Rose's claim that they had sex in Stephanie's car, threw her wedding ring at him, and packed her and their children's things to leave; Schmidt's complaints to others that Rose's brother, Leonard Marsh, was meddling in their affair; Stephanie's testimony detailing their discussions about what to do with his 20-gauge shotgun when she told Schmidt of the murders on May 19; and Schmidt's decision to get rid of the gun the next day despite Stephanie's pleas that he turn the gun over to police if he was innocent; Schmidt's initial lies to police about whether he owned a 20gauge shotgun and about his supposed sale of the 20-gauge shotgun along with his boat in 2005; and Schmidt's bragging to a friend at a party that police would never find the gun because it was "in pieces on the res."

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO INTRODUCE STEPHANIE'S TESTIMONY THAT HER HUSBAND DISCUSSED KILLING ROSE AND HIMSELF FOUR DAYS BEFORE THE MURDERS.

A. The relevant facts.

The state moved before trial to admit a number of statements by Stephanie to police recounting conversations she and Schmidt had about various topics including the existence of his affair with Rose, his activities on the morning of May 19, 2009, and the disposal of his shotgun shortly after the murders (35; 42). When questioned by police, Schmidt discussed all of these conversations with his wife in detail. Schmidt opposed the state's motion, arguing that his statements to Stephanie were protected by the marital privilege at Wis. Stat. § 905.05. Schmidt's brief at 10-12.

In a pretrial letter dated September 26, 2013, defense counsel significantly narrowed the issue to be decided (107). Schmidt now only challenged the admissibility of one statement that his wife made to police: shortly before the murders, Schmidt told Stephanie he should kill Rose and then himself. Schmidt later admitted to police he may have told Stephanie he should kill himself, but denied also telling her he should kill Rose. Schmidt argued his mere confirmation that he told Stephanie he contemplated killing only himself did not waive the marital privilege because it was not "a significant part" of his marital communications to allow for the admissibility of Stephanie's statement that he told her he also considered killing Rose (107:1-2).

The parties addressed the issue at a pretrial hearing held April 16, 2013 (82:77-83). The trial court issued a Memorandum Decision on October 2, 2013, allowing the statement into evidence (111; A-Ap. 14-15). The court noted at the outset of its decision that there was no longer any dispute regarding the admissibility of Stephanie's statements and testimony recounting her conversations with Schmidt about his affair with Rose, his desire to rebuild their marriage and his whereabouts on the day of the murders (111:1; A-Ap. 14).² Schmidt also conceded the admissibility of the portion of his statement to Stephanie four days before the murders that he should kill himself, but denied making the statement to her that he should also kill Rose (111:2; A-Ap. 15). The court held that Schmidt waived the protection of the marital privilege under Wis. Stat. § 905.05, when he voluntarily disclosed a significant part of his conversation with his wife to police, as provided in Wis. Stat. § 905.11. The trial court held that by discussing the of their private conversation with substance police. admitting part and denying part, Schmidt disclosed a significant part of it to a third party and thereby waived the marital privilege (111:2; A-Ap. 15).

Accordingly, the state introduced into evidence at trial Stephanie's testimony that four days before the murders, Schmidt told her he should kill Rose and himself to prove that he still cared for Stephanie (157:199).

 $^{^2}$ There was also no dispute about the admissibility of Stephanie's statements and testimony regarding what Schmidt told her he did with his shotgun after the murders (42).

B. The applicable law and standard for review.

Schmidt had the privilege to prevent his wife from testifying about "any private communication by one to the other made during their marriage." Wis. Stat. § 905.05(1). The privilege is waived, however, if the person claiming the privilege, "voluntarily discloses or consents to disclosure of any significant part of the . . . communication." Wis. Stat. § 905.11.

Statutory privileges, including the marital privilege, "are to be strictly and narrowly construed." State v. Denis L.R., 2005 WI 110, ¶ 38, 283 Wis. 2d 358, 699 N.W.2d 154. This narrow construction is appropriate because "statutory privileges interfere with the trial court's search for the truth." State v. Denis L.R., 2004 WI App 51, ¶ 12, 270 Wis. 2d 663, 678 N.W.2d 326. See State v. Richard G.B., 2003 WI App 13, ¶ 13, 259 Wis. 2d 730, 656 N.W.2d 469. See also United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683, 710 (1974) ("exceptions to the demand for every man's evidence are not lightly created or expansively construed, for they are in derogation of the search for truth").

The marital privilege is waived, and no longer "private," if the holder of the privilege later reveals a significant part of the marital communications to third parties. Wis. Stat. § 905.11. *State v. Dalton,* 98 Wis. 2d 725, 732-33, 298 N.W.2d 398 (Ct. App. 1980). The inference the finder of fact might draw from the disclosed marital communication "is irrelevant to the question of waiver." *Id.* at 733.

Also irrelevant is the privilege-holder's claimed lack of intent to waive the privilege. The issue is not whether the privilege-holder intended to waive the statutory privilege. It is simply whether he voluntarily disclosed a significant part of that communication to a third party. See Denis L.R., 270 Wis. 2d 663, ¶¶ 14-16; State v. Solberg, 211 Wis. 2d 372, 383-84, 564 N.W.2d 775 (1997). See also State v. Eison, 2011 WI App 52, 332 Wis. 2d 331, ¶ 33, 797 N.W.2d 890 (holding that the marital privilege was waived for statements made by the defendant to his wife during telephone conversations while he was in jail because all outgoing calls by jail inmates were recorded; a policy that was disclosed to all inmates).

A waiver occurs under Wis. Stat. § 905.11 only where the disclosure was voluntary, that is, free from compulsion. Thus, the disclosure need not be done with knowledge of its consequences (the surrender of a privilege) or represent an intelligent exercise of one's rights; it need only be free from coercion or improper inducements. More to the point, a strategically catastrophic disclosure may be made in total ignorance of a privilege, yet it is deemed a valid waiver as long as it was voluntary.

7 Daniel D. Blinka, *Wisconsin Evidence*, § 511.1 at 386 (3d ed. 2008) (footnotes omitted).

C. Schmidt voluntarily disclosed a "significant part" of his communications with his wife to police.

When interviewed by police, Schmidt openly admitted that he and Stephanie, discussed his affair with Rose, its impact on their marriage and his whereabouts on the morning of the murder (35:11-22; 111:1). Schmidt also confirmed that he and his wife discussed the whereabouts of his shotgun after the murders (35:23; 42). Schmidt concedes that their conversations about these subjects were not protected. Finally, Schmidt concedes that his admission to police that he told Stephanie four days before the murders that he should kill himself over his affair with Rose was not protected. Schmidt does not claim that any of these statements were coerced out of him by police. Schmidt had another privilege that he chose not to exercise: his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination allowing him to refuse to answer some or all of the questions by police. *See generally Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).³

This puts into proper context Schmidt's claim that the portion of Stephanie's statement to police that he also contemplated killing Rose was still protected by the marital privilege. Although Schmidt denies ever having made the statement, he insists that if he said it, the statement was protected by the marital privilege. By waiving the marital privilege with respect to everything else they discussed in the days before and after the murders, however, Schmidt revealed "a significant part" of their private marital

Rather, it is the defendant's own public reply to his wife's statement which rendered admissible Kasten's account of the police station confrontation, for, by his reply, defendant admitted making the prior statement. The defendant did not have to make such an acknowledgment. There is no suggestion that he was coerced. When confronted by his prior, privileged statement in the trailer he could have remained silent or denied having made such a statement. Under those circumstances, the privilege of the communication in the trailer would, no doubt, have been preserved, despite his wife's revelation of that conversation to the police. Irrespective, however, of the facts that he was in the midst of a lengthy custodial interrogation regarding the murder and in the known presence of three officers of the State, he acknowledged having said he shot Gwen. His statement cannot under these circumstances be deemed to have been a confidential communication.

Id. at 1252.

³ See also People v. Simpson, 369 N.E.2d 1248 (Ill. 1977). The court upheld the admission of a statement by Simpson's wife when they were being jointly interviewed by police that he admitted the murder to her, and Simpson's response to his wife in the presence of police: "Yes, but I told you later I was lying." *Id.* at 1250. The court held that Simpson waived the marital privilege with that voluntary response to his wife's statement in the presence of police:

communications about this investigation, rendering admissible his statement to Stephanie that he also contemplated killing Rose. *See Denis L.R.*, 270 Wis. 2d 663, $\P\P$ 17-19.

Schmidt denied making the statement about killing Rose. His denial was received into evidence at trial. Schmidt could have, had he so chosen, also taken the stand to deny making that statement to his wife. Schmidt decided not to testify. His disclosure of "a significant part" of their marital communications to a third party – the police – was voluntary and his claimed intent not to waive the marital privilege as to one clause in one sentence is irrelevant. *Id.* ¶¶ 14-16.

D. Any error was harmless.

It is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that, if Schmidt's statement to Stephanie four days before the murders about killing Rose should have been excluded under the husband-wife privilege, the error was harmless. Beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury would still have found Schmidt guilty based on the powerful and properly received circumstantial evidence, and all reasonable inferences to be drawn from it. *Harvey*, 254 Wis. 2d 442, ¶ 44. *See* sections "I." and "II. D.," above.

Stephanie denied at trial that she took Schmidt's comment about killing Rose and himself seriously, even though she told police that it "scared" her (157:255). Schmidt did not object to testimony that he and Stephanie discussed in general what to do about Rose and, in the course of that discussion, Schmidt told Stephanie he considered killing himself to prove his love for her.

In truth, both Schmidt and his wife were busy disclosing their marital confidences to just about anyone who would listen both before and after the murders: Schmidt's mother, Schmidt's uncle, Stephanie's sister, Stephanie's jail inmate, family friends, and finally the police. Their disclosures of such significant parts of their marital communications about significant facts directly relevant to the homicides render insignificant the disclosure by Stephanie to police that Schmidt mused about killing both Rose and himself four days before the murders.

It is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that, in light of the properly admitted overwhelming evidence of his guilt, discussed at "I.," and "II. D.," above, the verdicts would have been the same had Stephanie been allowed to testify that Schmidt admitted he considered killing himself, but not allowed to testify that he also considered killing Rose. Any violation of Wis. Stat. § 905.05 was, therefore, harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Eison*, 332 Wis. 2d 331, ¶¶ 10-11, 29, 34.

CONCLUSION

Therefore, the state of Wisconsin respectfully requests that the judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief be AFFIRMED.